



Network coupled astrocytes as a model system to study inflammatory properties

Master's thesis in Biotechnology

TONY WERNER

Supervisor: Professor Elisabeth Hansson

Department of Biology and Biological Engineering CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2014





UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG



Network coupled astrocytes as a model system to study inflammatory properties

Master's thesis in Biotechnology

TONY WERNER

Supervisor: Professor Elisabeth Hansson

The Neuroglial Research Group Department of Clinical Neuroscience and Rehabilitation Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology THE SAHLGRENSKA ACADEMY UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2015

Abstract

Before antibiotics and vaccines were discovered, microbes were the primary cause of mortality rates. However, with the drastically altered life style that comes with economic development, diseases that are non-infectious, chronic and recurrent have replaced microbial diseases as the biggest challenge to human health. Cancer, cardiovascular- and neurodegenerative diseases are some examples with potentially debilitating outcomes, and the common denominator among these have been recognized to be the pathways of chronic low-grade inflammation. However, inflammation is not well understood and research must thus be conducted to better understand the condition and elucidate potential therapeutic solutions. Because of this, scientists have employed both *in vivo* and *in vitro* systems to study inflammation but because of the lack of knowledge, especially regarding neuroinflammation, *in vitro* assays have produced many contradictory results. A reliable *in vitro* system is an attractive option to *in vivo* systems, as it is relatively inexpensive, quick, less complex and eliminates the ethical concern for animals.

The aim of this project was to develop a model cell system consisting of network coupled astrocytes and analyze changes in biomarkers when exposed to the pro-inflammatory mediators, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β), for 24 hours, 3, 6 and 9 days. Analyses were done by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, immunofluorescence, and Western blot. The astrocyte cell cultures were investigated under different cultivation parameters, of which two different seras were tested; one of which has been shown to promote microglial proliferation.

The cultures with the serum that has been shown to be beneficial to microglial proliferation had drastic effects on some of the investigated biomarkers, with a stronger induction of the toll-like receptor 4, reduced the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase instead of an increase and an induced transcription of excitatory amino acid transporter 2. However, both seras reorganized astrocytic actin filaments similarly, caused a polymerization of globular actin, neither released the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β or tumor necrosis factor alpha and in both serum groups the alteration to the biomarkers returned to control levels during longer stimulations than 24 hours. These results suggest that the astrocytes and microglia are not capable of initiating an inflammation by themselves, but microglia do appear to be at least partly responsible for observed alterations to known biomarkers. Furthermore, as previous studies have produced inflammatory reactive astrocytes by LPS or IL-1 β , the results imply that additional unknown factors are missing, possibly an unrecognized contaminating cell type.

Contents

Introduction
Background
Central Nervous System
Blood-brain barrier
Astrocytes
Microglia
Cytoskeleton7
Inflammation7
Pro-inflammatory mediators
Toll/interleukin-1 receptor ligands8
Tumor necrosis factor alpha9
Excitatory amino acid transporters10
GLT-1 and GLAST
Na ⁺ /K ⁺ -ATPase
Aim
Methods
Primary astrocyte cultures and stimulation
Immunofluorescence
Protein determination assay14
Sandwich ELISA14
SDS-PAGE and Western blot
Results
Immunofluorescence
Phase contrast microscopy
Actin assay
Actin assay
TLR4
TLR4

Introduction

Prior to the advent of antibiotics and vaccines, infections have been a major cause of mortality rates. However, with the epidemiological transition that comes with economic development, diseases that are noncommunicable, recurrent, lasting and have no microbial primary cause are replacing infections as the biggest challenge to human health (Egger 2012). Type two diabetes, cancer, asthma, cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases are examples, and a common denominator shared between them has been recognized to be the pathways of chronic low-grade inflammation (Medzhitov 2008).

Typically, when tissue injury or infection is recognized by tissue-resident macrophages and mast cells, a production of inflammatory mediators (e.g cytokines, chemokines and vasoactive amines) takes place. The immediate effect of this reaction is an acute inflammatory response which results in the delivery of leukocytes (primarily neutrophils) and plasma to the area of insult (Medzhitov 2008). When the neutrophils reach the location they are activated by cytokines that are released by tissue-resident cells (Steinbeck & Roth 1989). This activation results in an expulsion of toxic contents, including reactive oxygen species (ROS) and proteases, which not only attacks the pathogen, but the cells of the host as well (Nathan 2006). If the acute inflammatory response is successful, tissue-resident and recruited macrophages mediate a resolution and repair phase through secretion of anti-inflammatory compounds, which promote the recruitment of monocytes. Monocytes then remove dead cells and together with myofibroblasts initiate tissue remodeling (Serhan & Savill 2005; Hinz et al 2007). However, if the pathogen persists neutrophils are replaced with macrophages, and during infection T cells are involved as well. If these cells fail to clear the inflammatory insult a chronic inflammation arises. Beside pathogens, autoimmune disorders (in which the immune system attacks its own cells) and nondegradable foreign bodies may result in chronic inflammation (Medzhitov 2008).

Inflammation in the central nervous system (CNS) occurs on slightly different terms, due to its sensitive and closed nature. The major cells of the CNS are astrocytes, microglia, neurons and oligodendrocytes, of which the major tissue-resident macrophages are microglia. Microglia produce anti-inflammatory and neurotrophic factors under physiological conditions and pro-inflammatory mediators in response to infection or tissue damage (Streit 2002). Some of the pro-inflammatory mediators are toxic, such as NO and ROS, and have been suggested to act additively or synergistically with neurotoxic factors produced by microglia. These factors are continually produced by activated microglia, which also acts on astrocytes, that in turn amplifies the inflammatory reaction (Saijo et al 2009).

Toll like receptors (TLRs) which recognize structural motifs characteristic for pathogens and are known to be expressed by the innate immune system cells (Janeway & Medzhitov 2002) are gaining increasing recognition for having a role in several inflammatory diseases. Beside their exogenous ligands, they have also been shown to have endogenous agonists, e.g heat shock protein 60, which are released during apoptosis and necrosis (Lehnardt et al 2008). ATP, which is released by dead cells, has also been shown to induce inflammatory responses (Di Virgilio 2007). It is thus possible that an initial inflammatory reaction may harm or kill neurons and result in the release of endogenous proteins, forming a vicious cycle which maintains a low-grade inflammation.

The genesis of neurodegenerative diseases is largely unknown but inflammation has been correlated to numerous. If inflammation is indeed the cause or catalyst of neurodegenerative diseases, an attenuation of the reaction is of clinical significance. Due to this, microglia and astrocytes are of particular interest as they are able to initiate and amplify inflammation respectively, and by doing so, release neurotoxic compounds. Therefore, an *in vitro* cell model system for inflammation is desired to study potential treatments.

In this thesis astrocytes were cultured for two weeks. The aim of the project was to make the cells inflammatory reactive through various methods, study the change of known biomarkers and compare the results to previous research. Limitations of the project were the long cultivation time, the low amount of cell material produced in a given cultivation and the dynamic nature of cells which produces contradicting results among researchers, depending on a myriad of factors such as the serum used. Finally, the current knowledge of neuroinflammation is relatively poor.

Background

Central Nervous System

The cells of the CNS constitute a complex system mainly consisting of four cell types; neurons, astrocytes, microglia and oligodendrocytes. The three latter types make up about 90% of the CNS, with astrocytes constituting around 85% of all the glial cells (Blake 2008). Shortly summarized; astrocytes support neurons with energy substrates, inactivates neurotransmitters and K⁺ by uptake, they are communicators between blood and extracellular space as well as produce scars in damaged CNS tissue (Sandberg 2013). Microglia mobilizes and phagocytose dead cells and bacteria when detecting an altered chemistry in the extracellular space, in addition to initiating inflammatory responses in astrocytes by the production and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Oligodendrocytes mainly produce insulating myelin around the axons of the neurons.

Cerebral blood flow and the molecular exchange between blood and neural tissue are also tightly regulated. In contrast to most endothelia which allow paracellular molecular traffic, the capillaries in the brain are constituents of a physical barrier called the blood-brain barrier (BBB), which forces molecules to cross the BBB through transcellular means (Hawkins & Davis 2005). The BBB is composed of endothelial cells making up the capillaries, surrounded by pericytes and basal lamina, which together are enveloped by astrocytic end-feet (see figure 1) (Abbott et al 2006).

Blood-brain barrier

The BBB is a selective physical, transport and metabolic barrier which, due to tight junctions between the endothelial cells, transport molecules transcellularly rather than paracellularly in contrast to most endothelia (Hawkins & Davis 2005). To limit the entry of harmful compounds, the barrier employs transport systems for required nutrients, although small gaseous- and small lipophilic molecules are still able to cross the BBB freely (Begley & Brightman 2003). In addition to a physical barrier, intracellular enzymes such as the cytochrome P450 family functions by inactivating toxic compounds (El-Bacha & Minn 1999). Besides protecting the CNS from toxic compounds, the BBB also has regulatory functions. Together with astrocytes, it maintains CNS milieu homeostasis by regulating the ion composition and preventing fluctuations that occur in conjunction with e.g meals, as well as allowing similar signaling molecules peripherally and within CNS without interference (Wolburg & Lippoldt 2002; Hawkins & Davis 2005). The known cells of the BBB are endothelial cells making up the vasculature, pericytes surrounding them with astrocytic end-feet enveloping both (see figure 1) (Abbott et al 2006). Mast cells have also been found in the BBB, where 96 % of CNS resident mast cells are located, and 90 % of these make contact with endothelial cells or its extracellular matrix (Khalil et al 2007). The importance of astrocytes, pericytes and perivascular cells regarding BBB regulation and maintenance is largely unknown. Astrocytes have been implicated in the formation of endothelial tight junctions and polarized endothelial expression of transporters, and both astrocytic end-feet and pericytes have transport activities that may contribute to barrier functions (Abbott et al 2010). Pericytes have also been shown to regulate the formation of tight junctions as well as they regulate vesicle trafficking and displays an inhibition of the expression of molecules that increase vascular permeability (Daneman et al 2010). Furthermore, they are suggested to modulate vasculature and are able to either inhibit or facilitate immune cell migration (Hamzah et al 2008).



Copyright © 2006 Nature Publishing Group Nature Reviews | Neuroscience

Figure 1. The main cellular constituents of the blood-brain barrier are endothelial cells, pericytes and astrocytic end-feet. a) Endothelial cells have transport proteins for e.g nutrients. b) Astrocytic end-feet responsible for bi-directional signaling in the BBB. Abbott NJ *et al.* (2006) Astrocyte–endothelial interactions at the blood–brain barrier. *Nat. Rev. Neuro.* 7: 41–53 doi:10.1038/nrn1824

Astrocytes

Astrocytes (from Greek *astron* = star and *cyte* = cell), also known as astroglia (*glia* = glue), are named so because of early immunolabeling experiments that stained the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) (Eng et al 1971; Bignami & Dahl 1974), which resulted in a star-shaped appearance. However, since the finer processes of the astrocytes are GFAP negative, the name does not represent the true morphological form of the cells (Nedergaard et al 2003). Two main types of astrocytes exist; fibrous and protoplasmic. Fibrous astrocytes exist primarily in white matter and have long processes similar to fibers, while protoplasmic astrocytes mainly exist in grey matter with a globular morphology (Ramon & Cajal 1909). Studies have shown that the processes of protoplasmic astrocytes envelop synapses, while the fibrous astrocytes make contact with nodes of Ranvier, and together they make up a heterogeneous cell population. Some common features the subtypes share in common are extensive contact with blood vessels and the formation of gap junctions between distal astrocytic processes which connects neighboring astrocytes (Peters et al 1991). The gap junctions in the processes are evenly distributed and apart from interconnecting astrocytes, they interconnect the processes of individual cells as well. These gap junctions serve to minimize the difference in concentrations concerning molecules of 1000 kDa and less (Kumar & Gilula 1996). In contrast to neurons, astrocytes are electrically non-excitable, and after this finding was made it was concluded that astrocytes have no involvement in signal transmission (Nedergaard et al 2003). However, observations made in the 1990s found that astrocytes react to glutamate by increased cytosolic Ca²⁺ concentrations, followed by an inter-astrocytic propagation of a Ca²⁺ waves (Cornell-Bell et al 1990). This increase in Ca^{2+} concentration has been shown to be part of an astrocyteastrocyte and astrocyte-neuron intercellular communication (Blomstrand et al 1999). Elevations of Ca²⁺ concentration can be triggered as a result of neurotransmitters released by neurons (Blomstrand et al 1999). The result of released Ca²⁺ includes a release of neurotransmitters into the extracellular space, thereby triggering synaptic action potentials (Shigetomi et al 2008).

Astrocytes make extensive contact with blood vessels. This strategic position allows them to regulate blood flow depending on synaptic activity (Schummers et al 2008), possibly by their production of the auto- and paracrine signaling molecules which includes prostaglandins and nitric oxide (Amruthesh et al 1993; Murphy et al 1993). Another important feature of astrocytes lies with their regulation of synaptic mileu, as they control Ca²⁺, Na⁺, K⁺, Cl⁻, pH, and neurotransmitter homeostasis (Longuemare et al 1999; Ko et al 1999; Danbolt 2001), which is a critical task to ensure an optimal system.

Microglia

Microglial cells are macrophages of hematopoietic origin, i.e they stem from the progenitor cells of all blood cells, and make up approximately 10% of total cells in the CNS (Alliot et al 1999; Blake 2008)During early development they migrate from the umbilical vesicle to the developing neural tube (Ginhoux et al 2010) and act as the main immunocompetent cells of the CNS throughout life. They are mostly found in gray matter; mainly the hippocampus, basal ganglia, substantia nigra and olfactory bulb (Lawson et al 1990). During normal physiological conditions, microglia remain in a quiescent state due to neuron and astrocyte derived factors (Cardona et al 2006), but are highly active by continually surveying the environment of the CNS with their extended processes (also known as the "resting state") (Nimmerjahn et al 2005). During insult to the CNS, such as infection or damaged cells, the microglia become "activated" and change their morphology into an amoeba-like shape (Streit & Kreutzberg 1988). These insults are sensed through their expressed pattern recognition receptors, which regulate the activity of transcription factors including "nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells" (NFkB), followed by a mobilization towards the relevant area (Blake 2008; Akira et al 2006). However, microglia are not the only CNS cells capable of sensing injury and infection, as astrocytes are active participants in the reaction as well, and amplifies the reaction initiated by microglia (Saijo et al 2009).

During inflammation, among other CNS diseases, the microglial pool of the CNS expands, which has been believed to be partly due to bone-marrow derived stem cells that migrate across the BBB (Simard & Rivest 2004; Priller et al 2001). All studies that made this finding employed lethal irradiation and transplant of whole bone-marrows by flushing and intravascular injection. However, since the irradiation technique disrupts the BBB and the transplants artificially produce circulating progenitor cells, the results may be skewed as it would allow a higher frequency of cell recruitment. Ajami et al (2007) performed a study to see whether this cell migration is true in non-irradiated animals, and came to the conclusion that the increased microglial pool is primarily a result of the resident microglia proliferating, and not a recruitment of circulating precursor cells through the BBB. Other studies have also supported the finding that there is minimal cellular recruitment through the BBB under physiological conditions (Massengale et al 2005; Hickey & Kimura 1988). Furthermore, Ajami et al (2007) found that bone-marrow derived progenitor cells were not capable of spontaneously entering the blood stream and only when artificially delivered to the blood stream do they enter the CNS and generate microglia. It was then concluded that these findings suggest self-renewing resident cells of the CNS are the major reason for maintenance and local expansion of microglia.

Cytoskeleton

The cytoskeleton has three types of protein filaments and is composed of actin filaments, intermediate filaments and microtubules. As the name implies, the cytoskeleton plays a structural role, e.g. determining the cell shape and positioning of organelles. However, it is also responsible for entire cell movements as well as internal transport of organelles. When the cell changes its shape, e.g. during cell migration, the cytoskeleton reorganize continually (Cooper & Hausman 2009).

Actin filaments are ~7 nm in diameter and consist of single actin monomers, which has polymerized into long chains by the aid of various proteins, providing e.g. nucleation sites or stabilization of the chain (Cooper & Hausman 2009). Actin monomers are called globular actin (G-actin) and the polymerized form is called filamentous actin (F-actin). Polymerization is possible due to head-to-tail interactions between each monomer, which results in a long actin fiber of monomers oriented in the same direction with the ends of the fiber being called pointed end and barbed end. The barbed end of F-actin grows five to ten times faster than the pointed end. However, proteins that regulate the stability and disassembly of either end may give rise to an effect called "treadmilling", where association of G-actin to the barbed end occurs at the same rate dissociation from the pointed end occurs (Cooper & Hausman 2009). Association and dissociation of G-actin is an important feature to allow for cell movement and formation of cell processes. There are also proteins which assist in cross-linking actin filaments into bundles or networks, and associating filaments with cell structures. One such cell structure is the plasma membrane, where the actin filaments are very abundant and form a network which determines cell shape, allows the cells to migrate and the cell surface to move, engulf other particles, divide as well as providing mechanical support. Together with motor proteins such as myosin, actin allows for transport of organelles and vesicles containing, for example, membrane proteins (Cooper & Hausman 2009)

Inflammation

Inflammation is part of the innate immune system, i.e the nonspecific immune system. Inflammation may initiate as a reaction to pathogens, antigen recognition and tissue damage, for the purpose of eliminating infectious agents and repairing damaged tissue. When these insults are detected, a release of cytokines and other pro-inflammatory mediators occur which initiates an inflammatory cascade (Nathan 2002). This reaction activates mast cells which respond by releasing e.g histamine, cytokines and serine proteases, promoting an infiltration and activation of leukocytes to the area as well as an activation of pro-matrix metalloproteases (MMP) (Medzhitov 2008). MMPs then activate cytokines and cleave constituents of the extracellular matrix (Mohan et al 2002). As inflammation resolves, macrophages release a serine protease inhibitor which also has anti-inflammatory effects (Jin et al 1997). However, inflammation may have deleterious consequences if it is induced or regulated improperly (Barton 2008). Sustained inflammation has been correlated to Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis among other neurodegenerative diseases (Glass et al 2010).

The major leukocyte of the CNS is microglia, which produce anti-inflammatory and neurotrophic factors during its "resting" state (Streit 2002). When pathogens or tissue damage

is recognized, microglia promotes inflammatory responses which typically clear once the insult has been resolved. Microglia has for long been the focus of neuroinflammation, where they have been attributed to initiation of inflammation (Saijo et al 2011). Microglia are considered critical elements of the neurodegenerative aspect related to inflammation, partly due to their nature of releasing ROS when activated, which has been observed to be a common characteristic among many neurodegenerative diseases (Block & Hong 2005). However, mast cells are gaining increased attention (Skaper et al 2014). The mammalian brain contains perivascular mast cells that may disrupt the BBB through the action of e.g the vasodilator, histamine, and production and activation of MMP (Pang et al 1996; Lindsberg et al 2010). Mast cells have also been shown to be the first responders to neuroinflammation, and they are also the only cells that contain pre-formed tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Jin et al 2009; Gordon & Galli 1991). Mast cells are not the only cells in the CNS that have been shown to produce pro-MMP, as microglia and astrocytes have also been observed to produce the proteases (del Zoppo et al 2012). The activation of pro-MMPs has been shown to be mediated by e.g serine proteases secreted by mast cells during inflammation (Lindsberg et al 2010), and active MMPs contribute to inflammation by activating pro-inflammatory cytokines such as pro-TNF-α (Mohan et al 2002). Conversely, both active MMPs and serine proteases have also been shown to degrade pro-inflammatory cytokines (Ito et al 1996; Zhao et al 2005). In addition, mast cells have been implicated in the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts mediated by the serine protease, tryptase, and as pericytes have been suggested to differentiate into myofibroblasts during inflammation, mast cells could be responsible for that conversion (Mangia et al 2011; Hinz et al 2007). During inflammation myofibroblasts are mainly involved in the remodeling the extracellular matrix through secreted MMPs as well as their substrate, collagen, and as such they could be a key factor in the progression of inflammation (Hinz et al 2007; Rabkin et al 2001). Due to the destructive nature of inflammation, cells also have several mechanisms to inhibit undue pro-inflammatory signaling (Kovalenko et al 2003; Zhou et al 2012).

Pro-inflammatory mediators

Toll/interleukin-1 receptor ligands

The TLR family is a family of receptors that are expressed by the innate immune system cells. These receptors recognize structural motifs which are characteristic for pathogens, namely bacteria, virus and fungi (Janeway & Medzhitov 2002); these structural motifs are also known as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). The activation of TLR results in an induced transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines. One well studied PAMP is the gram negative endotoxin LPS (Oneill & Todd 1961) that activates TLR4 and induces systemic inflammation, which occurs from excessive signaling (Beutler & Rietschel 2003). The interleukin-1 receptor (IL-1R) is highly related in the cytoplasmic domain (Gay & Keith 1991), and is activated by e.g the pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1 β (Akira & Takeda 2004). When either TLR4 or IL-1R receptor is activated, a cascade of cellular signals occurs through the myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88) pathway and MyD88-independent pathways, which results in the activation of NF κ B. NF κ B then proceeds with the transcription

of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 β (Azzolina et al 2003; Baeuerle & Henkel 1994; O'Neill & Bowie 2007).

Even though TLR exists as a system that contributes to the defense of the host, excessive signaling has also been correlated to inflammatory diseases such as cardiovascular diseases and atherosclerotic lesions (Frantz et al 1999; Xu et al 2001; Edfeldt et al 2002). TLR4 has previously been shown to be up-regulated during LPS induced inflammation (Forshammar et al 2011), which may be due to mobilization of Human antigen R (HuR) from the nucleus into the cytoplasm, which stabilizes the TLR4 mRNA. LPS also promotes binding of HuR to the 3'-UTR of TLR4 mRNA as well as enhancing gene expression due to this interaction, in smooth muscle cells (Lin et al 2006). Analysis of cultured human adult astrocytes have shown that exposure to inflammatory cytokines did not increase the expression of TLR4 (Bsibsi et al 2006; Carpentier et al 2005). In addition, Lehnardt et al (2002) did not find any TLR4 mRNA in murine astrocytes, whereas TLR4 was detected in microglia.

The pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β is synthesized in its latent form (pro-IL-1 β). The enzyme responsible for the maturation of IL-1 β is caspase 1, also known as interleukin-1 converting enzyme (ICE) (Thornberry et al 1992). However, Fantuzzi et al (1997) observed that the latent cytokine was processed in ICE-deficient mice as well, and Schönbeck et al (1998) saw that MMPs are able to process pro-IL-1 β into its active form, as well as degrade the matured cytokine.

Tumor necrosis factor alpha

TNF- α is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that causes a signal cascade leading to the activation of NF κ B. However, studies in endothelial cells have shown that it does not go through the MyD88 pathway (Li et al 2003). TNF- α is synthesized as an inactive form (pro-TNF- α) and is anchored to the cell membrane prior to activation (Decker et al 1987; Moss et al 1997). Activation of pro-TNF- α has been shown to occur by the metalloprotease TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE) but also other, more general MMPs (Moss et al 1997; Mohita et al 2002).

Excitatory amino acid transporters

Excitatory amino acid transporters (EAATs), also known as glutamate transporters, are transmembrane proteins which exist in both neurons and glial cells. These transporters are responsible for the majority of glutamate removal from the extracellular fluid, which implicates their importance in maintaining a low and non-toxic concentration of glutamate (Danbolt 2001). Since glutamate functions as a neurotransmitter, the EAAT family is able to modulate neurotransmission by e.g modifying the extent and pattern of activation. These transporters are also involved in providing glutamate for synthesis of e.g GABA, glutathione and provide glutamate for energy production (Mathews & Diamond 2003; Rimaniol et al 2001; Peng et al 2007). Glutamate itself is considered the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the mammalian CNS and is believed to be involved in most aspects revolving normal brain function, e.g memory, learning and cognition (Fonnum 1984). Glutamate is also involved in the development of the CNS including cell migration and differentiation (Komuro & Rakic 1993; Moran & Patel 1989). The importance of extracellular glutamate removal is stressed by the fact that should it diminish, synapse firing will increase in intensity, eventually resulting in excitotoxicity (Cheung et al 1998).

Glutamate transporters can be divided into two groups, sodium-dependent- (EAAT) and sodium-independent (VGLUTs and xCT) glutamate transport systems (Danbolt 2001). This thesis will focus on two of the sodium-dependent variants.

GLT-1 and GLAST

GLT-1 (EAAT2) is the dominating glutamate transporter in all regions of the mammalian CNS with the exception for regions where GLAST (EAAT1) is the major transporter, and both GLAST and GLT-1 exist primarily in astroglial cells (Danbolt 2001). The expression of GLAST and GLT-1 varies with maturity. The canonical isoform of GLAST has a molecular weight of 59 kDa and following glycosylation it increases to 64 and 70 (Schulte & Stoffel 1995), while canonical and glycosylated GLT-1 is 62 and 75 kDa respectively kDa (Kalandadze 2004). However, the glycosylation has been shown to not affect the transport activity of GLAST and GLT-1, and glycosylated GLT-1 was transported to the plasma membrane with a similar efficiency to that of the non-glycosylated isoform (Conradt et al 1995; Raunser et al 2005). GLAST mRNA is primarily expressed during cell migration of the CNS, whereafter the expression diminishes and, during the postnatal development, GLT-1 mRNA expression shows a significant increase (Sutherland et al 1996). Swanson et al (1997) showed that monocultured astrocytes only expressed the GLAST subtype whereas astrocytes co-cultured with neurons were more differentiated and expressed both subtypes.

The loss of various EAAT transporters have been observed in the CNS under infectious and inflammatory disorders (Werner et al 2001; Wang et al 2004; Vercellino et al 2007). Following exposure to the pro-inflammatory cytokine TNF- α , the function and expression of GLT-1 and GLAST has been shown to be suppressed (Wang et al 2003; Korn et al 2005), and Prow & Irani (2008) showed that IL-1 β resulted in a loss of GLT-1 *in vivo*. NF κ B has been shown to function as an activator as well as a repressor of GLT-1 transcription, depending on the mediating molecule; TNF- α represses while EGF induces the transcription (Sitcheran et al 2005).

Conversely, O'Shea et al (2006) found a delayed, increased astroglial GLT-1 cell-surface expression which was increased to 172% compared to the control after 72 hours of stimulation with LPS. A clustering of GLAST, but no significant alteration in the expression of the protein, was found to appear as well and the glutamate uptake rate was increased to 129%, suggesting higher EAAT activity, which is in accordance with the findings of Namekata et al (2008). Namekata et al (2008) also found that the GLAST expression levels were unaffected by the treatment of IL-1.

Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase

Three Na⁺ are required for the transport of one glutamate by EAAT, and as such, the transport is dependent on the intra- and extracellular concentration of Na⁺ (Longuemare et al 1999; Szatkowski et al 1990). The intracellular concentration of Na⁺ is maintained by the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, which imports K⁺ and exports Na⁺ out of the cell. As the name of the transporter implies, the function is dependent on ATP; and should ATP deplete, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase will not be able to expulse the Na⁺, which would result in failing glutamate transport and ultimately, excitotoxicity (Allan et al 2001; Erecinska & Silver 1994; Loungemare et al 1999). Studies made on the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase have shown that both LPS and IL-1 β decrease the content of the pump in renal and hepatocytic cells (Schmidt et al 2007; Green et al 1996). However, Forshammar et al (2011) observed an increase of the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase during the first eight hours from LPS stimulation, followed by an attenuation. Namekata et al (2008) studied IL-1 in conjunction with GLAST and Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase in Müller cells (a type of astroglia in the retina), showing that IL-1 possibly increased Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase membrane localization. IL-1 was shown to activate the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)/caspase 11 pathway, which results in a destabilization of the actin cytoskeleton, and in turn, allows for Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase membrane redistribution. Furthermore, studies have observed that LPS activates the Sp1 transcription factor, which has a binding site in the promoter region of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase α_1 subunit, among other common and cell type-specific transcription factors (Suzukiyagawa et al 1992; Ma et al 2001).

Aim

The aim of this project was to develop a model cell system for inflammation and find suitable biomarkers to detect an inflammatory reaction. The well-established endotoxin, LPS, and pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-1 β , were utilized to achieve an inflammatory reaction. To ascertain whether an inflammatory reaction had occurred, analysis with the different methods; enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), immunofluorescence and Western blot was undertaken to investigate changes of biomarkers.

Astrocyte cell cultures were investigated with different cultivation parameters, including different sera that will henceforth be dubbed astroglia serum and microglia serum. The groups were as follows;

- Cell cultures grown solely in astroglia serum.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum, added microglia day zero and 30 min shaking on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum the first three days, microglia serum from day four and forth, when astrocytes had established, as well as 30 min shaking on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum the first three days and microglia serum from day four and forth, when astrocytes had established.
- Cell cultures with microglia serum from day zero and shaking for 30 min on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures grown solely in microglia serum.

Methods

Primary astrocyte cultures and stimulation

Rat primary cortical astrocytes (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) were cultured with a density of 1 x 10^4 cells per cm² on glass cover slips (Nr 1, diameter 20 mm, BergmanLabora, Stockholm, Sweden) placed in a 12-well plate. The cells were incubated at 37° C, 90% humidity and 5% CO₂ and the medium was replaced twice a week. The experiments were conducted after cultivating the cells for 17 days and stimulating them with LPS (10 ng/ml) or IL-1 β (10 ng/ml) respectively, for 24 hours, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days prior to harvest.

The following variants were performed;

- Cell cultures grown solely in astroglia serum.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum, added microglia day zero and 30 min shaking on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum the first three days, microglia serum from day four and forth, when astrocytes had established, as well as 30 min shaking on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures with astroglia serum the first three days and microglia serum from day four and forth, when astrocytes had established.
- Cell cultures with microglia serum from day zero and shaking for 30 min on days of serum exchange.
- Cell cultures grown solely in microglia serum.

Immunofluorescence

The media covering the stimulated cells was removed and followed by fixation for 10 min using 4 % paraformaldehyde (Histolab, Gothenburg, Sweden). After fixation the cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.45) (Invitrogen) (PBS) containing 1% bovine serum albumin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) (PBS-BSA). After the washing, PBS-BSA containing 0.05% saponine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) (PBS-BSA-sap) was used to permeabilize the cells for the duration of 20 min. The cells were then incubated for an hour with a rabbit polyclonal antibody cocktail targeting GFAP (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark), diluted 1:100 in PBS-BSA-sap. For assays where OX42 was targeted as well, a mouse monoclonal antibody was utilized (Serotec, Oxford, UK) with identical dilution. The cells were subsequently washed with PBS-BSA-sap three times and then incubated for an hour with the secondary antibodies, donkey anti-rabbit IgG F(ab')₂ fragment conjugated with Dylight 594 and donkey anti-mouse IgG F(ab')₂ fragment conjugated with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) (Jackson ImmunoResearch Europe Ltd, Suffolk, UK), diluted 1:150 in PBS-BSA-sap. The cells were afterwards washed with PBS-BSA-sap three times and PBS-BSA a single time. For imaging of actin, 10 µl of the probe Alexa 488 (Invitrogen) was incubated with 400 µl PBS-BSA per cover slip, with the fluorescent DNA dye Hoechst 33258 (Life technologies) in a dilution of 1:1000 when used, for 20 min in room temperature. The cells were finally washed with PBS three times and then mounted on microscope slides with fluorescent mounting medium (Dako). Nikon Eclipse 80i microscope was used for imaging and the pictures were taking with Hamamatsu C5810 color intensified 3CCD camera.

Protein determination assay

The DC protein assay (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) was performed in accordance with the supplied manual (Lowry et al 1951). However, the standard ranged from 0-4 mg/ml BSA. Samples and standards were mixed with the reagents, the microplate shaken and then incubated for 15 min in room temperature. The absorbance was read at 750 nm using a Versa-max microplate reader and subsequently analyzed by SoftMax Pro 4.8 (Molecular Devices, Sunnydale, CA, USA).

Sandwich ELISA

Rat IL-1 β (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and TNF- α (BD Bioscience, San Jose, CA, USA) were both performed as advised by respective manufacturers. Each sample was done in duplicate and the standard curve was done in triplicate. The absorbance was read with Versamax microplate reader and the data analyzed by Softmax Pro 4.8 (Molecular Devices, Sunnydale, CA, USA.). The amount of cytokine release was correlated with the Lowry assay described above.

SDS-PAGE and Western blot

The media covering the stimulated cells was collected and the cells were immediately lysed in radio-immunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) mixed with a protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich). A cell scraper was employed and the lysate was collected. Total protein content was measured by the Lowry et al (1951) assay described above, and the samples containing a total of 13 µg protein were each mixed with 10 µl 4x LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen), 4 µl 10x reducing agent (Invitrogen) and diluted to 40 µl with distilled water. They were then heated at 70 °C for 10 minutes before being loaded into the gel lanes. β -actin was stained to control equal loading. SDS-page was performed utilizing the Novex precast gel system (Invitrogen) and recommended method, with 4-12% Bis-Tris gels (Invitrogen) at 200 V for 50 min. Following the electrophoresis, the proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Invitrogen) at 30 V for an hour using NuPAGE transfer buffer (Invitrogen) complemented with methanol (Sigma-Aldrich) and NuPAGE antioxidant (Invitrogen). After the transfer the membranes were rinsed 2 times with distilled water and the transfer confirmed by Ponceau S solution (Sigma-Aldrich). Ponceau S solution was then washed off and a blocking solution consisting of 0.5 % fat-free skim milk (Semper AB, Sundbyberg, Sweden) in TBST (50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl, 0.5 % Tween 20, pH 7.5) was added to the membranes to block overnight. Ensuing blocking, the membranes were probed separately with primary antibodies against CX43, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase (α-subunit), TLR4, GLT-1, with β –actin being probed on all membranes except CX43. The antibodies and dilutions were as follows; 1:150 rabbit polyclonal antibody (Invitrogen), 1:250 mouse monoclonal antibody (Sigma-Aldrich), 1:500 rabbit polyclonal antibody (Santa Cruz), 1:1000 rabbit polyclonal antibody (Covalab), 1:1000 rabbit polyclonal antibody (Covalab) respectively. The dilutions were done in 4 ml blocking solution. After incubation of primary antibodies, the membranes were washed 3x3 min and then incubated with secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) for an hour. The antibodies used were donkey anti-rabbit IgG F(ab')₂ fragment and donkey anti-mouse IgG F(ab')₂ fragment (Jackson ImmunoResearch Europe Ltd, Suffolk, UK) diluted 1:10000 in blocking solution. The membrane was again washed with TBST 3x3 min. Detection of antibodies was carried out using the enhanced chemiluminescence kit (PerkiElmer Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) and Fuji Film LAS-3000 (Tokyo, Japan) employed for visualization.

Actin assay

Actin quantitation was performed as recommended by the F-actin/G-actin In Vivo Assay Biochem Kit (Cytoskeleton, Inc., Denver, CO, USA) and SDS-page performed as described above, with the exception of sample preparation. The primary antibody against actin, rabbit polyclonal antibody (Cytoskeleton) was diluted 1:500 in blocking solution, and the secondary antibody, donkey anti-rabbit IgG $F(ab')_2$ fragment conjugated to HRP (Jackson ImmunoResearch) was employed and diluted 1:10000 in blocking solution.

Results

Immunofluorescence

Astroglia serum

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. F-actin organized in stress fibers dominated the untreated culture whereas LPS had the most pronounced ring structures and IL-1 β slightly more than the control group (see figure 2).



Control

LPS 10 ng/ml

IL-1β 10 ng/ml

Figure 2. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h. Actin was stained with FITC (green) and Dylight 594 (red) for GFAP.

Astroglia serum and added microglia with shake on day 4 and forth

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. Cell debris and diffuse organization of actin was observed in all three groups, with the IL-1 β stimulated group exhibiting more ring structural reorganization (see figure 3).



Figure 3. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1β for 24 h. Actin was stained with FITC (green) and Dylight 594 (red) for GFAP.

Microglia serum from day 4 with shake from day 4 and forth

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. All three groups displayed cell debris, damage and F-actin in the form of stress fibers (see figure 4).



Figure 4. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h. Actin was stained with FITC (green) and Dylight 594 (red) for GFAP.

Microglia serum from day 4

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. Both the LPS and IL- 1β stimulated group exhibited a slight increase in ring structure reorganization (see figure 5).



Control

LPS 10 ng/ml

IL-1β 10 ng/ml

Figure 5. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1β for 24 h. Actin was stained with FITC (green) and Dylight 594 (red) for GFAP.

Microglia serum from day 0 with shake on day 4 and forth

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. All three groups displayed cell debris and cell damage. F-actin was observed in the form of stress fibers in all three groups (see figure 6).



Figure 6. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h. Actin was stained with FITC (green) and Dylight 594 (red) for GFAP.

Microglia serum from day 0

Astrocytes were stained with FITC for actin and Dylight 594 for GFAP. F-actin organized in stress fibers dominated the untreated culture whereas LPS had the most pronounced ring structures and IL-1 β slightly more than the control group (see figure 7).



Figure 7. Astroglia serum cultures were stimulated with LPS or IL-1β for 24 h. Actin was stained with Dylight 594 (red) and GFAP was visualized with Alexa Fluor 350 (blue).

Phase contrast microscopy

The microglia serum cultivations displayed more microglia than in the astrocyte serum group (see figure 8).



Figure 8. Phase contrast microscope picture of the A) astroglia serum group and B) microglia serum group. Arrows point towards infiltrated microglia and free microglia is represented by the white dots.

Actin assay

The F- over G-actin ratio increased when the cells were stimulated with LPS in the microglia serum group, whereas the replicates in the astroglia serum group were too few to statistically analyze. However, F-actin is increased in both serum groups when the cells have been treated with IL-1 β (see figure 9).



Figure 9. Astrocytes stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h and the ratio F-actin (P) over G-actin (S) was studied by Western blot. The protein levels are shown as the supernatants relative density compared to the pellet. Error bars show the SEM value. n=2 for LPS and n=3 for IL-1 β , for the astroglia serum group, and n=3 for the microglia serum group. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test. *p≤0.05 and ***p≤0.001

TLR4

The stimulation with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 hours resulted in an increased content of TLR4 in both the astroglia serum group and microglia serum group. The protein content returned to normal levels during the longer stimulations (see figure 10).



Figure 10. Astroglia serum cultures stimulated with A) LPS or B) IL-1 β and microglia serum cultures stimulated with C) LPS and D) IL-1 β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression of TLR4 was studied by Western blot. E) and F) represents membranes from astroglia serum group and microglia serum group, respectively. The protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=7 for the 24 h stimulation and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test. *p≤0.05 and **p≤0.005

Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase

The astroglia serum group exhibited an increased content of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase when stimulated with LPS for 24 hours but no statistically significant increase was observed by the IL-1 β stimulation. The microglia serum group showed a decreased content of the protein when stimulated by either LPS or IL-1 β . The content of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase reverted to normal levels when the cultures were stimulated for 3, 6 and 9 days (see figure 11).



Figure 11. Astroglia serum cultures stimulated with A) LPS or B) IL-1 β and microglia serum cultures stimulated with C) LPS and D) IL-1 β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase was studied by Western blot. E) and F) represents membranes from astroglia serum group and microglia serum group, respectively. The protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=9 for the 24 h stimulation and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test. *p≤0.05, **p≤0.005 and ***p≤0.001

GLT-1

The astroglia serum group exhibited no alteration in the content of GLT-1 when stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β with the exception of the 6 day stimulation, which had a decreased content of the 75 and 62 kDa isoforms and an increased content of 38 kDa isoform when stimulated with LPS (see figure 12).



Figure 12. Astroglia serum cultures stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression the 75 kDa (A, B), 62 kDa (C, D) and 38 kDa (E, F) GLT-1 was studied by Western blot. G) represents membranes. Protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=9 for the 24 h stimulation and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test. *p≤0.05

The microglia serum group showed an increased content of all the assayed isoforms when stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for a duration of 24 hours. The longer stimulations resulted in a return to normal levels with the exception of an increased 62 kDa isoform content when stimulated with IL-1 β for 6 days, and an increased content of the 38 kDa isoform when stimulated with LPS for 9 days (see figure 13).



Figure 13. Microglia serum cultures stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression the 75 kDa (A, B), 62 kDa (C, D) and 38 kDa (E, F) GLT-1 was studied by Western blot. G) represents membranes. The protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=9 for the 24 h stimulation and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test. *p≤0.05

GLAST

The astroglia serum group exhibited no alteration in the content of GLAST when stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β , with the exception of the 3 day stimulation, which had a decreased content of the 38 kDa isoform when stimulated with LPS (see figure 14).



Figure 14. Astroglia serum cultures stimulated with LPS or IL-1β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression the 70 kDa (A, B), 64 kDa (C, D) and 38 kDa (E, F) GLAST was studied by Western blot. G) represents membranes. The protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=6, 4 and 5 for the 70 kDa, 64 kDa and 38 kDa isoform and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test.

GLAST expression in the microglia serum group remained largely unchanged, with the exception of the glycosylated isoform at day three and six when the cultures were stimulated with IL-1 β (see figure 15).



Figure 15. Microglia serum cultures stimulated with LPS or IL-1β for 24 h, 3 days, 6 days and 9 days. The expression the 70 kDa (A, B), 64 kDa (C, D) and 38 kDa (E, F) GLT-1 was studied by Western blot. G) represents membranes. The protein levels are shown as the relative density compared to control. Error bars show the SEM value. n=6, 4 and 5 for the 70 kDa, 64 kDa and 38 kDa isoform and n=3 for the longer stimulations. Statistical analysis was performed by one tailed student's t test.

Discussion

The aim of this thesis was to cause an inflammatory reaction in astroglial cells by the aid of the endotoxin, LPS, or the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β , followed by studying various biomarkers to prove an inflammation. The first cultivation using astroglia serum did not provide any significant cytokine release and did not significantly alter the content of GLT-1 nor Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. This suggested a lack of microglial cells which is assumed to initiate inflammatory responses (Saijo et al 2011). A couple of different conditions during cultivation were then explored. A serum previously used in the research group that had been shown to be beneficial for microglial proliferation was tested (Persson et al 2007). Shaking of the cultures has also been shown to proliferate microglia (Giulian & Baker 1986) and was thus undertaken, producing in total six groups. However, due to causation of cell debris in the shaking groups, they were deemed inappropriate. Changing from astroglia serum to microglia serum on day four did not provide any significant advantage either. Therefore only the astroglia serum group and the microglia serum group had considerably more microglia.

An F/G-actin assay based on Western blot was also employed to detect any changes between the astroglia serum and the microglia serum. The method had shown great discrepancies in the ratio of F-actin over G-actin between the same groups, so the process was evaluated for possible optimizations. The supernatant pipetting step following ultracentrifugation was previously undertaken by carefully pipetting the supernatant with the tube held upright as close to the barely visible pellet as deemed appropriate. This led to some supernatant residues being left with the pellet causing an overestimation of F-actin. As such, tipping the centrifugation tube cautiously to allow for the supernatant to collect by the opening of the tube, while the pellet remained in the bottom, thus produced much more reproducible results. However, the issue of remaining mineral oil in the supernatant is still pertinent, as it may cause an underestimation of G-actin due to dilution. As the mineral oil cannot be poured off separately of the supernatant, the reproducibility issue pertaining dilution thus lies with personal variances in the technique employed by the individual.

Both serum groups had an increased content of F-actin from IL-1 β and whereas only the microglia serum displayed the same effect when treated with LPS (the astroglia serum group was disregarded due to insufficient replicates). Both serum groups also displayed reorganization which reduced stress fibers and induced formation of ring structures. This can be explained in part by the fact that IL-1 β inhibits the rho-associated protein kinase, a kinase that acts inhibitory on ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate 1, which in turn catalyzes actin branching (John et al 2004; Yamaguchi et al 2001; Cooper & Hausman 2009). Since TLR has a highly related cytoplasmic domain to that of IL-1R (Gay & Keith 1991) it may be expected to cause a similar effect. This response could be an effort to reorganize various cell constituents, such as locating the Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase close to active glutamate transporters (Namekata et al 2008).

Since both LPS and IL-1 β activate NF κ B, which initiates pro-inflammatory cytokine production such as IL-1 β and TNF- α (Azzolina et al 2003; Baeuerle & Henkel 1994; Akira & Takeda 2004), these two stimulations were expected to increase the IL-1 β and TNF- α levels. However, the release of aforementioned cytokines was too low to be detected by ELISA in the astroglia serum group and microglia serum group. Furthermore, ELISA assay on IL-1 β release displayed a value too low to be detected by ELISA in cultures stimulated with IL-1 β , which suggests that the cells have degraded the cytokine. The reason for the lack of cytokine release may be because of the cells not being inflammatory reactive enough. The current scientific consensus attributes an initiation of inflammation to microglia (Saijo et al 2011). However, the results of this thesis suggests that this is not the case, since an increase in microglia did not result in an observable increase in cytokine release, nor did a longer stimulation with LPS or IL-1 β which spanned up to nine days. Further reinforcing this notion is the fact that previous experiments within the group, with astrocyte and endothelial co-cultures, yielded cytokine release when stimulated with 10 ng/ml LPS (Delbro et al 2009; Westerlund et al 2013).

The protein expression of TLR4 was increased in both the astroglia serum group and microglia serum group when stimulated with LPS or IL-1 β for 24 hours, which is in accordance with Forshammar et al (2011), who stimulated astrocytes co-cultured with endothelial cells for up to 48 hours. The microglia serum group also exhibited a higher expression of TLR4 protein, which may indicate more microglia. However, the protein expression unexpectedly reverted back to control levels in the longer stimulations, spanning from 3 to 9 days. The results might be due to a negative regulation of pro-inflammatory signaling pathways (Kovalenko et al 2003; Zhou et al 2012), but at the time of this thesis there is a lack of studies that have observed TLR4 expression in astrocytes following longer stimulations, so no comparison can be drawn.

A higher concentration of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase was observed in the astroglia group when the cultures were stimulated with LPS for 24 hours, followed by attenuation back towards control levels, which is in accordance with Forshammar et al (2011). Conversely, the microglia serum group displayed a decrease of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase when stimulated with either LPS or IL-1ß for 24 hours, which is in accordance with observations in hepatocytic and renal cells (Schmidt et al 2007; Green et al 1996), followed by an increase to control levels during longer stimulations. However, Namekata et al (2008) did not find an alteration in the total concentration of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase in Müller cells stimulated with IL-1 for 24 hours, but increased membrane localization was observed. Explanations for the decrease in Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase in the microglia serum group might be due to paracrine signaling by microglia that down-regulates the transcription of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase in astrocytes, or degradation of the pump by e.g ROS release by activated microglia, which is known to occur (Block & Hong 2005). Therefore, the contradictory results may be dependent on the amount of microglia in the cultures. Furthermore, the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase α_1 -subunit gene has been shown to have an Sp1 binding site in its promoter region, and LPS has been shown to activate the Sp1 transcription factor in human macrophages (Suzukiyagawa et al 1992; Ma et al 2001). However, Suzukiyagawa (1992) also showed that Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase α_1 -subunit is regulated by both common and several cell type-specific transcription factors. This complex regulation of the pump combined with the lack of studies on astrocytic Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase makes it hard to draw a conclusion, but the initial increased protein expression in the astroglia serum group suggests that astrocytes react to inflammatory stimuli by an upregulation of the pump. Future studies could therefore compare the transcription of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase between astroglia cultures and astroglia-microglia co-cultures by northern blot. However, the fact that mRNA levels does not always correspond to protein expression should not be ignored (Gebauer & Hentze 2004).

Previous studies have shown that GLT-1 is reduced in cells following stimulation with TNF- α (Wang et al 2004), whereas O'Shea (2006) found an up-regulation of the protein when cells were stimulated with LPS. Furthermore, Prow & Irani (2008) observed a down-regulation of the protein by IL-1ß injection in vivo. In this thesis, the astroglia serum group exhibited no statistically significant alteration of the protein except for a minor decrease in LPS stimulations with a duration of six days concomitant with an increase of the 38 kDa isoform. On the other hand, the microglia serum group displayed an initial increase in either the LPS or IL-1 β stimulations followed by attenuation. The microglia serum group also displayed an increase of the canonical protein by IL-1β at day six, as observed by increased 62 kDa isoform content. Furthermore, an increased 38 kDa isoform was observed by LPS stimulation at day nine. In contrast to the observation by O'Shea et al (2006), who showed that GLT-1 was up-regulated at day three, the up-regulation of GLT-1 in this thesis was present at 24 hours of stimulation, with an attenuation at day three. Interestingly, in both serum groups the 38 kDa isoform was observed at a band intensity on par with the otherwise most intense band, the 75 kDa isoform; and a GLAST related isoform at this size was also detected. At the time of this thesis no studies on the function or cause of the 38 kDa isoform was found, but it has been observed (Russo et al 2013). The occurrence of the isoform may be due to degradation. As such, studies on the amino acid composition of the protein followed by cross referencing with known protease cleavage sites of GLT-1 could therefore be undertaken to determine whether it is a result of self-imposed degradation or not. In addition, the astrocytes used in this project express GLT-1; which means the cells are mature and differentiated since astrocytic monocultures have been shown to only express the GLAST subtype in the absence of neurons (Swanson et al 1997). Reports have shown that LPS and IL-1 have no effect on GLAST expression (O'Shea et al 2006; Namekata et al 2008), however, Korn et al (2005) have shown that GLAST is reduced when astrocytes are exposed to TNF- α . The results in this thesis exhibit a largely unchanged expression of the transporter, although IL-1ß did decrease the content of the glycosylated isoform at day 3 and 6 in the microglia serum group. Together with the fact that GLT-1 was not reduced, these results could indicate that TNF- α is absent from the cultures, which supports the findings of the ELISA assay that indicated a lack of TNF- α release.

The lack of cytokine release and the attenuation of the change in biomarkers suggest that the cells are not inflammatory reactive. Contrary to the common belief that microglia initiates inflammation (Saijo et al 2009), the results of this thesis suggest that they do not; or at least not solely. However, activated microglia do seem to drastically contribute to the alteration of astroglial proteins which may be due to the release of paracrine signaling molecules and ROS, as shown by (Saijo et al 2009). A cell that has not received much attention regarding neuroinflammation is the mast cell. The brain contains perivascular mast cells which are able to release serine proteases that activate pro-MMPs (Florenzano & Bentivoglio 2000; Lindsberg et al 2010). These MMPs are in turn are able to activate pro-inflammatory cytokines which are needed to mediate inflammation (Mohan et al 2002). Furthermore, one of the proteases secreted by mast cells, tryptase, has been shown to be a ligand to the protease-activated receptor 2, a receptor that has been shown to act synergistically with TLR4 and induce pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Rallabhandi et al 2008; Zeng et al 2013). As discussed in the review by Nathan (2002), initiation of inflammation may be a set of "stop and go" signals, where multiple signals (binary or higher order) are required to escalate the inflammatory response further. Since mast cells have been shown to be the first responders to neuroinflammation (Jin et al 2009), an astrocyte cell culture lacking mast cells may then be deficient in the first steps towards inflammation, which may have resulted in a stop signal. The initial response could therefore be the result of activated IL-1R or TLR4 and respective signaling pathways, followed by the activation of a negative feedback loop that inhibits further signaling (Kovalenko et al 2003; Zhou et al 2012). As a previous study that isolated microvascular fragments exhibited a contamination of pericytes (Bondjers et al 2006), and since mast cells are closely associated with the BBB they may have contaminated the cultures as well. Therefore, the astroglia and endothelial cell co-culture used in the studies performed by Forshammar et al (2011) and Westerlund et al (2013) could have been contaminated by perivascular mast cells which may have contributed to the inflammatory response of the cells. Furthermore, since pericytes have been suggested to differentiate into myofibroblasts during inflammation, and myofibroblasts secrete a wide range of pro-MMPs (Hinz et al 2007; Rabkin et al 2001), the contaminating pericytes in conjunction with mast cells may also have been responsible for the inflammatory reactive astrocytes. As such, compounds secreted by mast cells or both mast cells together with myofibroblasts may be necessary for an inflammation to occur, which could explain the lack of inflammation observed in the cultures of this thesis.

Conclusion

The purpose of the thesis was to create a model cell system consisting of network coupled astrocytes to study inflammation. Both serum groups displayed actin reorganization as visualized by immunofluorescence, and actin polymerization when stimulated with IL-1 β , whereas only the microglia serum group displayed an actin polymerization when stimulated with LPS. Neither cultivation became inflammatory reactive by LPS or IL-1 β stimulations, as observed by the lack of cytokine release and return of TLR4, Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and GLT-1 to control levels during longer stimulations. The results suggest that astrocytes and microglia are not capable of initiating an inflammation on their own and that another factor is missing. Mast cells could be necessary for an initiated inflammation due to e.g their production of serine proteases, which signals for inflammation and activates pro-MMPs that in turn activates pro-inflammatory cytokines. Furthermore, pericytes differentiated into myofibroblasts may be needed for a continuous production of pro-MMPs to drive inflammation. Mast cells and myofibroblasts may therefore be interesting future venues to explore regarding neuroinflammation.

References

Abbott, NJ, Rönnbäck, L, Hansson, E 2006 'Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the bloodbrain barrier', *Nature reviews neuroscience*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 41-53, doi: 10.1038/nrn1824

Abbott, NJ, Patabendige, AAK, Dolman, DEM, Yusof, SR, Begley, DJ 2010 'Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier', *Neurology of disease*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 13-25, doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030

Ajami, B, Bennet, JL, Krieger, C, Tetzlaff, W, Rossi, FMV 2007 'Local self-renewal can sustain CNS microglia maintenance and function throughout adult life', *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 10, no. 12, pp. 1538-1543, doi: 10.1038/nn2014

Akira, S & Takeda, K 2004, 'Toll-like receptor singalling', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 499-511, doi: 10.1038/nri1391

Akira, S, Uematsu, S, Takeuchi, O 2006 'Pathogen recognition and innate immunity', *Cell*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 783-801, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015

Alliot, F, Godin, I, Pessac, B 1999 'Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain', *Developmental Brain Research*, vol. 117, no. 2, pp. 145-152, doi: 10.1016/S0165-3806(99)00113-3

Allan, SM & Rothwell, NJ 2001 'Cytokines and acute neurodegeneration', *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, vol. 2, no. 10, pp. 734-744, doi: 10.1038/35094583

Amruthesh, SC, Berschel, MF, Mckinney, JS, Willoughby, KA, Ellis, EF 1993 'Metabolism of arachidonic-acid to epoxyeicosatrienoic acids, hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acids, and prostaglandins in cultured rat hippocampal astrocytes', *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 150-159, doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1993.tb03550.x

Azzolina, A, Bongiovanni, A, Lampiasi, N 2003 'Substance P induces TNF- α and IL-6 production through NF κ B in peritoneal mast cells', *Molecular Cell Research*, vol. 1643, no. 1-3, pp. 75-83, doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2003.09.003

Baeuerle, PA & Henkel, T 1994 'Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system', *Annual Reviews Immunology*', vol. 12, pp. 141-179, doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001041

Barton, GM 2008 'A calculated response: control of inflammation by the innate immune system', *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 118, no. 2, pp. 413-420, doi: 10.1172/JC134431

Begley, DJ & Brightman, MW 2003 'Structural and functional aspects of the blood-brain barrier', *Progress in drug research*, vol. 61, pp. 39-78

Bignami, A & Dahl, D 1974 'Astrocyte-specific protein and radial glia in cerebral-cortex of newborn rat', *Nature*, vol. 252, no. 5478, pp. 55-56, doi: 10.1038/252055a0

Blake, BL 2008, 'Biochemical Toxicology of the Central Nervous System', 4th edn, in RC Smart & E Hodgson (eds), *Molecular and Biochemical Toxicology*, J. Wiley & Sons, Hoboken

Block, ML & Hong, JS 2005 'Microglia and inflammation-mediated neurodegeneration: Multiple triggers with a common mechanism', *Progress in Neurobiology*, vol. 76, no. 2, pp. 77-98, doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2005.06.004

Blomstrand, F, Khatibi, S, Muyderman, H, Hansson, E, Olsson, T, Rönnbäck, L 1999 '5hydroxttryptamine and glutamate modulate velocity and extent of intercellular calcium signalling in hippocampal astroglial cells in primary cultures', *Neuroscience*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 1241-1253, doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(98)00351-0

Bsibsi, M, Persoon-Deen, C, Verwer, RWH, Meeuwsen, S, Ravid, R, Van Noort, JM 2006, 'Toll-like receptor 3 on adult human astrocytes triggers production of neuroprotective mediators', *Glia*, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 688-695, doi: 10.1002/glia.20328

Cardona, AE, Pioro, EP, Sasse, ME, Kostenko, V, Cardona, SM, Dijkstra, IM, Huang, DR, Kidd, G, Dombrowski, S, Dutta, R, Lee, JC, Cook, DN, Jung, S, Lira, SA, Littman, DR, Ransohoff, RM 2006 'Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor', *Nature Neuroscience*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 917-924, doi: 10.1038/nn1715

Carpentier, PA, Begolka, WS, Olson, JK, Elhofy, A, Karpus, WJ, Miller, SD 2005 'Differential activation of astrocytes by innate and adaptive immune stimuli', *Glia*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 360-374, doi: 10.1002/glia.20117

Cheung, NS, Pascoe, CJ, Giardina, SF, John, CA, Beart, PM 1998 'Micromolar L-glutamate induces extensive apoptosis in an apoptotic-necrotic continuum of insult-dependent, excitotoxic injury in cultured cortical neurones', *Neuropharmacology*, vol. 37, no. 10-11, pp. 1419-1429, doi: 10.1016/S0028-3908(98)00123-3

Conradt, M & Stoffel, W 1995 'Localization of N-glycosylation sites and functional-role of the carbohydrate units of GLAST-1, a cloned rat-brain L-glutamate L-aspartate transporter', *European journal of biochemistry*, vol. 229, no. 3, pp. 682-687, doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.tb20514.x

Cooper, GM & Hausman, RE 2009 'The Cytoskeleton and Cell Movement', 5th edn, *The Cell: A Molecular Approach*, Sinauer Associates, Inc., Sunderland

Cornell-Bell, AH, Finkbeiner, SM, Cooper, MS & Smith, SJ 1990 'Glutamate induces calcium waves in cultured astrocytes: long-range glial signalling', *Science*, vol. 247, no. 4941, pp. 470-473, doi: 10.1126/science.1967852

Danbolt, NC 2001 'Glutamate uptake', *Progress in Neurobiology*', vol. 65, no. 1, pp. 1-105, doi: 10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00067-8

Daneman, R, Zhou, L, Kebede, AA, Barres, BA 2010 'Pericytes are required for blood-brain barrier integrity during embryogenesis', *Nature*, vol. 468, no. 7323, pp. 562-U238, doi: 10.1038/nature09513

Delbro, D, Westerlund, A, Björklund, U, Hansson, E 2009 'In inflammatory reactive astrocytes co-cultured with brain endothelial cells nicotine-evoked Ca2+ are attenuated due to interleukin-1 beta release and rearrangement of actin filaments', vol. 159, no. 2, pp. 770-779, doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.01.005

Decker, T, Lohmannmathes, ML, Gifford, Ge 1987 'Cell-associated tumor-necrosis-factor (TNF) as a killing mechanism of activated cytotoxic macrophages', *Journal of immunology*, vol. 138, no. 3, pp. 957-962

del Zoppo, GJ, Frankowski, H, Gu, YH, Oscada, T, Kanazawa, M, Milner, R, Wang, XY, Hosomi, N, Mabuchi, T, Koziol, JA 2012 'Microglial cell activation is a source of metalloproteinase generation during hemorrhagic transformation', *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 919-932, doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2012.11

Di Virgilio, F 2007 'Liaisons dangereuses: P2X(7) and the inflammasome', *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, vol. 28, no. 9, pp. 465-472, doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2007.07.002

Edfeldt, K, Swedenborg, J, Hansson, GK, Yan, ZQ 2002 'Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions: a possible pathway for plaque activation.', *Circulation*, vol. 105, no. 10 1158 –1161

Egger, G 2012 'In Search of a Germ Theory Equivalent for Chronic Disease', *Preventing chronic disease*, vol. 9, pp. E95, doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd9.110301

El-Bacha, RS & Minn, A 1999 'Drug metabolizing enzymes in cerebrovascular endothelial cells afford a metabolic protection in the brain', *Cellular and molecular biology*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 15-23

Eng, LF, Vandenha, JJ, Bignami, A, Gerstl, B 1971 'Acidic protein isolated from fibrous astrocytes', *Brain research*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 351-354, doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(71)90668-8

Erecinska, M & Silver, IA 1994 'Ions and energy in mammalian brain', *Progress in Neurobiology*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 37-71, doi: 10.1016/0301-0082(94)90015-9

Fantuzzi, G, Ku, G, harding, MW, Livingston, DJ, Sipe, JD, Kuida, K, Flavell, RA, Dinarello, CA 1997 'Response to local inflammation of IL-1 beta-converting enzyme-deficient mice', *Journal of immunology*, vol. 158, no. 4, pp. 1818-1824

Florenzano, F & Bentivoglio, M 2000 'Degranulation, density and distribution of mast cells in the rat thalamus: A light and electron microscopic study in basal conditions and after intracerebroventricular administration of nerve growth factor', *Journal of comparative neurology*, vol. 424, no. 4, pp. 651-669, doi

Forshammar, J, Block, L, Lundborg, C, Biber, B, Hansson, E 2011 'Naloxone and ouabain in ultra-low concentrations restore Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase and cytoskeleton in lipopolysaccharide-treated astrocytes', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 286, no. 36, pp. 31586-31597, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.247767

Frantz, S, Kobzik, L, Kim, YD, Fukazawa, R, Medzhitov, R, Lee RT, Kelly, RA 1999 'Toll4 (TLR4) expression in cardiac myocytes in normal and failing Myocardium' *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, vol. 104, no. 3, pp. 271–280

Fonnum, F 1984 'Glutamate – A Neurotransmitter in Mammalian Brain', *Journal of Neurochemistry*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 1-11, doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.1984.tb09689.x

Gay, NJ & Keith, FJ 1991 'Drosohila Toll and IL-1 receptor', *Nature*, vol. 351, no. 6325, pp. 355-356

Gebauer, F & Hentze, MW 2004 'Molecular mechanisms of translational control', *Nature reviews molecular cell biology*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 827-835, doi: 10.1038/nrm1488

Ginhoux, F, Greter, M, Leboeuf, M, Nandi, S, See, P, Gokhan, S, Mehler, MF, Conway, SJ, Ng, LG, Stanley, ER, Samokhvalov, IM, Merad, M 2010 'Fate Mapping Analysis Reveals That Adult Microglia Derive from Primitive Macrophages', *Science*, vol. 330, no. 6005, pp. 841-845, doi: 10.1126/science.1194637

Giulian, D & Baker, TJ 1986 'Characterization of ameboid microglia isolated from developing mammalian brain', *Journal of neuroscience*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 2163-2178

Glass, CK, Saijo, K, Winner, B, Marchetto, MC, Gage, FH 2010 'Mechanisms Underlying Inflammation in Neurodegeneration', *Cell*, vol. 140, no. 6, pp. 918-934, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.02.016

Gordon, JR, Galli, SJ 1991 'Release of both preformed and newly synthesized tumor-necrosisfactor-alpha (TNF-alpha)/cachectin by mouse mast-cells stimulated via the FC-epsilon-RI – A mechanism for the sustained action of mast-cell derived TNF-alpha during IgE-dependent biological responses', *Journal of experimental medicine*, vol. 174, no. 1, pp. 103-107, doi: 10.1084/jem.174.1.103

Green, RM, Beier, D, Gollan, JL 1996 'Regulation of hepatocyte bile salt transporters by endotoxin and inflammatory cytokines in rodents', *Gastroenterelogy*, vol. 111, no. 1, pp. 193-198, doi: 10.1053/gast.1996.v111.pm8698199

Hamzah, J, Jugold, M, Kiessling, F, Rigby, P, Manzur, M, Marti, HH, Rabie, T, Kaden, S, Grone, HJ, Hammerling, GJ, Arnold, B, Ganss, R 2008 'Vascular normalization in Rgs5-deficient tumours promotes immune destruction', *Nature*, vol. 453, no. 7193, pp. 410-U67, doi: 10.1038/nature06868

Hawkins, BT & Davis, TP 2005 'The blood-brain/neurovascular unit in health and disease', *Pharmacological reviews*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 173-185, doi: 10.1124/pr.57.2.4

Hickey, WF & Kimura, H 1988 'Perivascular microglial cells of the CNS are bone-marrow derived and present antigen invivo', *Science*, vol. 239, no. 4837, pp. 290-292, doi: 10.1126/science.3276004

Hinz, B, Phan, SH, Thannickal, VJ, Galli, A, Bochaton-Piallat, ML, Gabbiani, G 2007 'The myofibroblast – One function, multiple origins', *American journal of pathology*, vol. 170, no. 6, pp. 1807-1816, doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070112

Ito, A, Mukaiyama, A, Itoh, Y, Nagase, H, Thogersen, IB, Enghild, JJ, Sasaguri, Y 1996 'Degradation of interleukin 1 beta by matrix metalloproteinases', *Journal of biological chemistry*, vol 271, no. 25, pp. 14657-14660

Janeway, CA & Medzhitov, R 2002 'Innate immune recognition', *Annual Review of Immunology*, vol. 20, pp. 197-216, doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.20.083001.084359

Jin, FY, Nathan, C, Radzioch, D, Ding, A 1997 'Secretory leukocyte protease inhibitor: A macrophage product induced by and antagonistic to bacterial lipopolysaccharide', *Cell*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 417-426, doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81880-2

Jin, YX, Silverman, AJ, Vannucci, SJ 2009 'Mast cells are early responders after hypoxiaischemia in immature rat brain', *Stroke*, vol. 40, no. 9, pp. 3107-3112, doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.549691

John, GR, Chen, LF, Rivieccio, MA, Melendez-Vasquez, CV, Hartley, A, Brosnan, CF 2004 'Interluekin-1 beta induces a reactive astroglial phenotype via deactivation of the rho GTPaserock axis', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 2837-2845, doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4789-03.2004

Kalandadze, A, Wu, Y, Fournier, K, Robinson, MB 2004 'Identification of Motifs Involved in Endoplasmic Reticulum Retention-Forward Trafficking of the GLT-1 Subtype of Glutamate Transporter', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 24, no. 22, pp. 5183-5192

Khalil, M, Ronda, J, Weintraub, M, Jain, K, Silver, R, Silverman, AJ 2007 'Brain mast cell relationship to neurovasculature during development', *Brain research*, vol. 1171, pp. 18-19, doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.07.034

Komuro, H & Rakic, P 1993 'Modulation of Neuronal Migration by NMDA receptors', *Science*, vol. 260, no. 5104, pp. 95-97, doi: 10.1126/science.8096653

Kumar, NM & Gilula, NB 1996 'The Gap Junction Communication Channel', *Cell*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 381-388, doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81282-9.

Ko, YP, Lang, HJ, Loh, SH, Chu, KC, Wu, ML 1999 'Cl⁻dependent and Cl⁻independent Na⁺/HCO₃⁻acid extrusion in cultured rat cerebellar astrocytes', *Chinese Journal of Physiology*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 237-248, doi: /10707899

Korn, T, Magnus, T, Jung, S 2005 'Autoantigen specific T cells inhibit glutamate uptake in astrocytes by decreasing expression of astrocytic glutamate transporter GLAST: a mechanism mediated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha', *Faseb Journal*, vol. 19, no. 10, pp. 1878-+, doi: 10.1096/fj.05-3748fje

Kovalenko, A, Chable-Bessia, C, Cantarella, G, Israel, A, Wallach, D, Courtois, G 2003 'The tumour suppressor CYLD negatively regulates NF-kappa B signaling by deubiquitination', *Nature*, vol. 424, no. 6950, pp. 801-805, doi: 10.1038/nature01802

Lawson, LJ, Perry, VH, Dri, P, Gordon, S 1990 'Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult-mouse brain', *Neuroscience*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 151-170, doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(90)90229-W

Lehnardt, S, Lachance, C, Patrizi, S, Lefebvre, S, Follett, PL, Jensen, FE, Rosenberg, PA, Volpe, JJ, Vartanian, T 2002 'The toll-like receptor TLR4 is necessary for lipopolysaccharideinduced oligodendrocyte injury in the CNS', *Journal of neuroscience*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 2478-2486

Lehnardt, S, Schott, E, Trimbuch, T, Laubisch, D, Krueger, C, Wulczyn, G, Nitsch, R, Weber, JR 2008 'A vicious cycle involving release of heat shock protein 60 from injured cells and activation of toll-like receptor 4 mediates neurodegeneration in the CNS', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 2320-2331, doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4760-07.2008

Li, X, Tupper, JC, Bannerman, DD, Winn, RK, Rhodes, CJ, Harlan, JM 2003 'Phosphoinositide 3 Kinase Mediates Toll-Like Receptor 4-Induced Activation of NF- κ B in Endothelial Cells', *Infection and Immunity*', vol. 71, no. 8, pp. 4414-4420

Lin, FY, Chen, YH, Lin, YW, Tsai, JS, Chen, JW, Wang, HJ, Chen, YL, Li, CY, Lin, SJ 2006 'The role of human antigen R, an RNA-binding protein, in mediating the stabilization of Tolllike receptor 4 mRNA induced by endotoxin: a novel mechanism involved in vascular inflammation', *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*', vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 622-2629

Lindsberg, PJ, Strbian, D, Karjalainen-Lindsberg, ML 2010 'Mast cells as early responders in the regulation of acute blood-brain barrier changes after cerebral ischemia and hemorrhage', *Journal of cerebral blood flow and metabolism*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 689-702, doi: 10.1038/jcbfm.2009.282

Longuemare, MC, Rose, CR, Farrell, K, Ransom, BR, Waxman, SG, Swanson, RA 1999 'K⁺induced reversal of astrocyte glutamate uptake is limited by compensatory changes in intracellular Na⁺', *Neuroscience*, vol. 93, No. 1, pp. 285-292, doi: 10.1016/S0306-4522(99)00152-9

Lowry, OH, Rosebrough, NJ, Farr, AL & Randall, RJ 1951 'Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 193, pp. 265-275

Ma, W, Lim, W, Gee, K, Aucoin, S, Nandan, D, Kozlowski, M, Diaz-Mitoma, F, Kumar, A 2001 'The p38 mitogen-activated kinase pathway regulates the human interleukin-10 promoter via the activation of Sp1 transcription factor in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human macrophages, *Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 17, pp. 13664-13674

Mangia, A; Malfettone, A, Rossi, R, Paradiso, A, Ranieri, G, Simone, G, Resta, L 2011 'Tissue remodelling in breast cancer: human mast cell tryptase as an initiator of myofibroblast differentiation', *Histopathology*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 1096-1106, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2011.03842.x

Massengale, M, Wagers, AJ, Vogel, H, Weissman, IL 2005 'Hematopoietic cells maintain hematopoietic fates upon entering the brain', *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, vol. 201, no. 10, pp. 1579-1589, doi: 10.1084/jem.20050030

Mathews, GC & Diamond, JS 2003 'Neuronal glutamate uptake contributes to GABA synthesis and inhibitory synaptic strength', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 23, no. 6, pp. 2040-2048

Medzhitov, R 2008 'Origin and physiological roles of inflammation', *Nature*, vol. 454, no. 7203, pp. 428-435, doi: 10.1038/nature07201

Mohan, MJ, Seaton, T, Mitchell, J, Howe, A, Blackburn, K, Burkhart, W, Moyer, M, Patel, I, Waitt, GM, Becherer, JD, Moss, ML, Milla, ME 2002 'The tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme (TACE): A unique metalloproteinase with highly defined substrate selectivity', *Biochemistry*, vol. 41, no. 30, pp. 9462-9469, doi: 10.1021/bi0260132

Moran, J & Patel, J 1989 'Stimulation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor promotes the biochemical differentiation of cerebellar granule neurons and not astrocytes', *Brain Research*, vol. 486, no 1, pp. 15-25, doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(89)91272-9

Moss, ML, Jin, SLC, Milla, ME, Burkhart, W, Carter, HL, Chen, WJ, Clay, WC, Didsbury, JR, Hassler, D, Hoffman, CR, Kost, TA, Lambert, MH, Leesnitzer, MA, McCauley, P, McGeehan, G, Mitchell, J, Moyer, M, Pahel, G, Rocque, W, Overton, LK, Schoenen, F, Seaton, T, Su, JL, Warner, J, Willard, D, Becherer, JD 1997 'Cloning of a disintegrin metalloproteinase that processes precursor tumour-necrosis factor-alpha', N*ature*, vol. 385, no. 6618, pp. 733-736, doi: 10.1038/385733a0

Murphy, S, Simmons, ML, Agullo, L, Garcia, A, Feinstein, DL, Galea, E, Reis, DJ, Mincgolomb, D, Schwartz, JP 1993 'Synthesis of nitric-oxide in cns glial-cells', *Trends in Neurosciences*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 323-328, doi: 10.1016/0166-2236(93)90109-Y

Namekata, K, Harada, C, Kohyama, K, Matsumoto, Y, Harada, T 2008 'Interleukin-1 stimulates glutamate uptake in glial cells by accelerating membrane trafficking of Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase via actin depolymerization', *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 3273-3280, doi: 10.1128/MCB.02159-07

Nathan, C 2002 'Points of control in inflammation', *Nature*, vol. 420, no. 6917, pp. 846-852, doi: 10.1038/nature01320

Nathan, C 2006 'Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities', *Nature Reviews Immunology*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 173-182, doi: 10.1038/nri1785

Nedergaard, M, Ransom, B & Goldman, SA 2003 'New roles for astrocytes: Redefining the functional architecture of the brain', *Trends in Neurosciences*, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 523-530, doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2003.08.008.

Oneill, GJ & Todd, JP 1961 'Extraction of nucleic acid-free lipopolysaccharides from gramnegative bacteria', *Nature*, vol. 190, no. 477, pp. 344-345, doi: 10.1038/190344b0

O'Neill, LAJ & Bowie, AG 2007 'The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Tolllike receptor signalling', *Nature reviews immunology*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 353-364, doi: 10.1038/nri2079

O'Shea, RD, Lau, CL, Farso, MC, Diwakarla, S, Zagami, CJ, Svendsen, BB, Feeney, SJ, Callaway, JK, Jones, NM, Pow, DV, Danbolt, NC, Jarrott, B, Beart, PM 2006 'Effects of lipopolysaccharide on glial phenotype and activity of glutamate transporters: Evidence for delayed up-regulation and redistribution of GLT-1', *Neurochemistry International*, vol. 48, no, 6-7, pp. 604-610, doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2005.12.028

Pang, X, Letourneau, R, Rozniecki, JJ, Wang, L, Theoharides, TC 1996 'Definitive characterization of rat hypothalamic mast cells', *Neuroscience*, vol. 73, no. 3, pp. 889-902, doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(95)00606-0

Peng, L, Gu, L, Zhang, HL, Huang, XS, Hertz, E, Hertz, L 2007 'Glutamine as an energy substrate in cultured neurons during glucose deprivation', *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, vol. 85, no. 15, pp. 3480-3486, doi: 10.1002/jnr.21262

Persson, M 2007 'Microglial Glutamate Transporters: Regulation of Expression and Possible Physiological Functions' [dissertation]. Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology: The Sahlgrenska Academy at Göteborg University.

Peters, A, Palay, SL & Webster, HD 1991 'Fine Structure of the Nervous System: Neurons and Their Supporting Cells', 3rd edn, Oxford University Press, New York

Priller, J, Flugel, A, Wehner, T, Boentert, M, Haas, CA, Prinz, M, Fernandez-Klett, F, Prass, K, Bechmann, I, de Boer, BA, Frotscher, M, Kreutzberg, GW, Persons, DA, Dirnagl, U 2001 'Targeting gene-modified hematopoietic cells to the central nervous system: Use of green fluorescent protein uncovers microglial engraftment', *Nature Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 1356-1361, doi: 10.1038/nm1201-1356

Prow, NA & Irani, DN 2008 'The inflammatory cytokine, interleukin-1 beta, mediates loss of astroglial glutamate transport and drives excitotoxic motor neuron injury in the spinal cord during acute viral encephalomyelitis', *Journal of Neurochemistry*', vol. 105, no. 4, pp. 1276-1286, doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05230.x

Rabkin, E, Aikawa, M, Stone, JR, Fukumoto, Y, Libby, P, Schoen. FJ 2001 'Activated interstitial myofibroblasts express catabolic enzymes and mediate matrix remodeling in myxomatous heart valves', *Circulation*, vol. 104, no. 21, pp. 2525-2532, doi: 10.1161/hc4601.099489

Rallabhandi, P, Nhu, QM, Toshchakov, VY, Piao, W, Medvedev, AE, Hollenberg, MD, Fasano, A, Vogel, SN 2008 'Analysis of proteinase-activated receptor 2 and TLR4 signal transduction – A novel paradigm for receptor cooperativity', *Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 283, no. 36, pp. 24314-24325, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M804800200

Ramon, Y & Cajal, S 1909 'Histologie du systeme nerveux de l'homme et des vertebres', *Maloine*.

Raunser, S, Haase, W, Bostina, M, Parcej, DN, Kuhlbrandt, W 2005 'High-yield expression, reconstitution and structure of the recombinant, fully functional glutamate transporter GLT-1 from Rattus norvegicus', *Journal of molecular biology*, vol. 351, no. 3, pp. 598-613, doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.06.036

Rimaniol, AC, Mialocq, P, Clayette, P, Dormont, D, Gras, G 2001 'Role of glutamate transporters in the regulation of glutathione levels in human macrophages', *American Journal of Physiology – Cell Physiology*, vol. 281, no. 6, pp. C1964-C1970

Russo, R, Cavaliere, F, Varano, GP, Milanese, M, Adornetto, A, Nucci, C, Bonanno, G, Morrone, LA, Corasaniti, MT, Bagetta, G 2013 'Impairment of Neuronal Glutamate Uptake and Modulation of the Glutamate Transporter GLT-1 Induced by Retinal Ischemia', *Plos One*, vol. 8, no. 8, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069250

Saijo, K, Winner, B, Carson, CT, Collier, JG, Boyer, L, Rosenfeld, MG, Gage, FH, Glass, CK 2009 'A nurr1/CoREST Pathway in Microglia and Astrocytes Protects Dopaminergic Neurons from Inflammation-Induced Death', *Cell*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 47-59, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.038

Saijo, K, Winner, B, Carson, CT, Collier, JG, Boyer, L, Rosenfeld, MG, Gage, FH, Glass, CK 2011 'An ADIOL-ER beta-CtBP Transrepression Pathway Negatively Regulates Microglia-Mediated Inflammation', *Cell*, vol. 145, no. 4, pp. 584-595, doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.03.050

Sandberg, M 2013, KBB100 Biochemical Toxicology A; Göteborgs Universitet, Göteborg.

Schmidt, C, Hocherl, K, Schweda, F, Kurtz, A, Buchter, M 2007 'Regulation of renal sodium transporters during severe inflammation', *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 1072-1083, doi: 10.1681/ASN.2006050454

Schulte S & Stoffel W 1995 'UDP Galactose-ceramide galactosyltransferase and glutamate aspartate transporter – copurification, separation and characterization of the 2 glycoproteins', *European Journal of Biochemistry*, vol. 233, no. 3, pp. 947-953, doi: 10.1111/j.1432-1033.1995.947_3.x

Schummers, J, Yu, HB, Sur, M 2008 'Tuned responses of astrocytes and their influence on hemodynamic signals in the visual cortex', *Science*, vol. 320, no. 5883, pp. 1638-1643, doi: 10.1126/science.1156120

Schönbeck, U, Mach, F, Libby, P 1998 'Generation of biologically active IL-1 by matrix metalloproteinases: A novel caspase-1-independent pathway of IL-1 beta processing', *Journal of immunology*, vol. 161, no. 7, pp. 3340-3346

Serhan, CN & Savill, J 2005 'Resolution of inflammation: The beginning programs the end', *Nature Immunology*, vol. 6, no. 12, pp. 1191-1197, doi: 10.1038/ni1276

Shigetomi, E, Bowser, DN, Sofroniew, MV, Khakh, BS 2008 'Two forms of astrocyte calcium excitability have distinct effects on NMDA receptor-mediated slow inward currents in pyramidal neurons', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 28, no. 26, pp. 6659-6663, doi: 0.1523/JNEUROSCI.1717-08.2008

Simard, AR & Rivest, S 2004 'Bone marrow stem cells have the ability to populate the entire central nervous system into fully differentiated parenchymal microglia', *FASEB Journal*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 998-1007, doi: 10.1096/fj.04-1517fje

Sitcheran, R, Gupta, P, Fisher, PB, Baldwin, AS 2005 'Positive and negative regulation of EAAT2 by NF-kappaB: a role for N-myc in TNFalpha-controlled repression', *EMBO journal*, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 510-520, doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600555

Skaper, SD, Facci, L, Giusti, P 2014 'Mast cells, glia and neuroinflammation: partners in crime?', *Immunology*, vol. 141, no. 3, pp. 314-327, doi: 10.1111/imm.12170

Steinbeck, MJ & Roth, JA 1989 'Neutrophil activation by recombinant cytokines', *Reviews of infectious diseases*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 549-568

Streit, WJ & Kreutzberg, GW 1988 'Response of Endogenous Glial Cells to Motor Neuron Degeneration Induced by Toxic Ricin', *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, vol. 268, no. 2, pp. 248-263, doi: 10.1002/cne.902680209

Streit, WJ 2002 'Microglia as neuroprotective, immunocompetent cells of the CNS', *Glia*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 133-139, doi: 10.1002/glia.10154

Sutherland, ML, Delaney, TA, Noebels, JL 1996 'Glutamate transporter mRNA expression in proliferative zones of the developing and adult murine CNS', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 16, no. 7, pp. 2191-2207

Suzukiyagawa, Y, Kawakami, K, Nagano, K 1992 'Housekeeping Na,K-ATPase-alpha-1 subunit gene promoter is composed of multiple cis elements to which common and cell type-specific factors bind', *Molecular and cellular biology*, vol. 12, no. 9, pp. 4046-4055

Swanson, RA, Miller, JW, Rothstein, JD, Farrell, K, Stein, BA, Longuemare, MC 1997 'Neuronal regulation of glutamate transporter subtype expression in astrocytes', *Journal of Neuroscience*, vol. 17, no 3, pp. 932-940

Szatkowski, M, Barbour, B, Attwell, D 1990 'Non-vesicular release of glutamate from glial cells by reversed electrogenic glutamate uptake', *Nature*, vol. 348, no. 6300, pp. 443-446, doi: 10.1038/348443a0

Thornberry, NA, Ranon, TA, Pieterson, EP, Rasper, DM, Timkey, T, GarciaCalvo, M, Houtzager, VM, Nordstrom, PA, Roy, S, Vaillancourt, JP, Chapman, KT, Nicholson, DW 1997 'A combinatorial approach defines specificities of members of the caspase family and ganzyme B – Functional, relationships established for key mediators of apoptosis', *Journal of biological chemistry*, vol. 272, no. 29, pp. 17907-17911, doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.29.17907

Vercellino, M, Merola, A, Piacentino, C, Votta, B, Capello, E, Mancardi, GL, Mutani, R, Giordana, MT, Cavalla, P 2007 'Altered glutamate reuptake in relapsing-remitting and secondary progressive multiple sclerosis cortex: Correlation with microglia infiltration, demyelination, and neuronal and synaptic damage', *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*', vol. 66, no. 8, pp. 732-739, doi: 10.1097/nen.0b013e31812571b

Wang, Z, Pekarskava, O, Bencheikh, M, Chao, W, Gelbard, HA, Ghorpade, A, Rothstein, JD, Volsky, DJ 2003 'Reduced expression of glutamate transporter EAAT2 and impaired glutamate transport in human primary astrocytes exposed to HIV-1 or gp120', *Virology*, vol. 312, no. 1, pp. 60-73, doi: 10.1016/S0042-6822(03)00181-8

Wang, Z, Trillo-Pazos, G, Kim, SY, Canki, M, Morgello, S, Sharer, LR, Gelbard, HA, Su, ZZ, Kang, DC, Brooks, AI, Fisher, PB, Volsky, DJ 2004 'Effects on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on astrocyte gene expression and function: Potential role in neuropathies', *Journal of Neurovirology*, vol. 10, pp. 25-32, doi: 10.1080/13550280490270851

Werner, P, Pitt, D, Raine, CS 2001 'Multiple sclerosis: altered glutamate homeostasis in lesions correlates with oligodendrocyte and axonal damage', *Annuals of Neurology*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 169-180, doi: 10.1002/ana.1077

Westerlund, A, Bjorklund, U, Rönnbäck, L, Hansson, E 2013 'Long-term nicotine treatment suppresses IL-1 beta release and attenuates substance P- and 5-HT-evoked Ca2+ responses in astrocytes', *Neuroscience letters*, vol. 553, pp. 191-195, doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2013.08.038

Wolburg, H & Lippoldt, A 2002 'Tight junctions of the blood-brain barrier: Development, composition and regulation', *Vascular pharmacology*, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 323-337, doi: 10.1016/S1537-1891(02)00200-8

Xu, XH, Shah, PK, Faure, E, Equils, O, Thomas, L, Fishbein, MC, Luthringer, D, Xu, XP, Rajavashisth, TB, Yano, J, Kaul, S, Arditi, M 2001 'Toll-like receptor-4 is expressed by macrophages in murine and human lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques and upregulated by oxidized LDL' *Circulation*, vol. 104, no 25, pp. 3103–3108

Yamaguchi, Y, Katoh, H, Yasui, H, Mori, K, Negishi, M 2001 'RhoA inhibits the nerve growth factor-induced Rac1 activation through Rho-associated kinase-dependent pathway', *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 22, pp. 18977-18983, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100254200

Zeng, XN, Zhang, S, Xu, LW, Yang, HW, He, SH 2013 'Activation of Protease-Activated Receptor 2-Mediated Signaling by Mast Cell Tryptase Modulates Cytokine Production in Primary Cultured Astrocytes', *Mediators of inflammation*, doi: 10.1155/2013/140812

Zhao, W, Oskeritzian, CA, Pozez, AL, Schwartz, LB 2005 'Cytokine production by skinderived mast cells: Endogenous proteases are responsible for degradation of cytokines', *Journal of Immunology*, vol. 175, no. 4, pp. 2635-2642

Zhou, FF, Zhang, XF, van Dam, H, ten Dijke, P, Huang, HZ, Zhang, L 2012 'Ubiquitin-specific Protease 4 Mitigates Toll-like/Interleukin-1 Receptor Signaling and Regulates Innate Immune Activation', *Journal of Biological chemistry*, vol 287, no. 14, pp. 11002-11010, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.328187